

# Sub-Task 1: Assessment of Reclaimed Asphalts Containing Aged Polymer Modified Bitumen

Highways England, Mineral Products Association and Eurobitume UK

Work Package 1-979 Collaborative Research Project Number: 60618808

May 2021 Version 2

#### Quality information

Prepared by	Checked by	Verified by	Approved by
Dr Ayad Subhy Pavement Engineer	Dr Chibuzor Ojum Principal Engineer	Dr Iswandaru Widyatmoko Technical Director	Dr Iswandaru Widyatmoko Technical Director
Omar Hadri Graduate Engineer	Craig Bonney Principal Engineer		

## **Revision History**

Revision	<b>Revision date</b>	Details	Authorized	Name	Position
1	28/04/2021	Addressing comments from project sponsors	Yes	Daru Widyatmoko	Technical Director
2	11/05/2021	Issue final report	Yes	Daru Widyatmoko	Technical Director

#### **Distribution List**

# Hard Copies	PDF Required	Association / Company Name	

#### Prepared for:

Highways England, Mineral Products Association (MPA) and Eurobitume UK







#### Prepared by:

Dr Ayad Subhy Pavement Engineer M: 07799099805 E: ayad.subhy@aecom.com

Omar Hadri Graduate Engineer E: omar.hadri@aecom.com

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited 12 Regan Way Chetwynd Business Park Nottingham NG9 6RZ United Kingdom

aecom.com

#### © 2021 AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited. All Rights Reserved.

This document has been prepared by AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited ("AECOM") for sole use of our client (the "Client") in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written agreement of AECOM.

#### Table of Contents

Glossa	ary	. vii
Execu	tive Summary	viii
1.	Introduction	1
1.1	Overview	1
1.2	Background	2
2.	Materials and Experimental Programme	5
2.1	Materials	5
2.1.1	Virgin Materials	5
2.1.2	Site Won and Reclaimed Asphalt	5
2.2	Methodology and Experimental Programme	6
2.2.1	Methodology	6
2.2.2	Modified Rolling Thin Film Oven Test (MRTFOT)	8
2.2.3	Bitumen Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt	9
2.2.4	Penetration and Softening Point	9
2.2.5	Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)	9
2.2.6	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)	11
2.2.7	Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA)	11
2.2.8	Asphalt Mixture Testing	11
3.	Stage 1: Characterisation of the Bitumens and the Effect of Ageing	14
3.1	Introduction	14
3.2	Test Results	14
3.2.1	Penetration and Softening Point	14
3.2.2	Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)	15
3.2.3	Multiple Stress Creep and Recovery (MSCR)	. 18
3.2.4	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)	
325	Saturates Aromatics Resins and Asphaltenes (SARA)	23
3.3	Key Findings	
4	Stage 2 <sup>-</sup> Characterisation of RA Blended Bitumens	25
1.		25
н. 1 2		25
ч. <u>с</u> 121	Penetration and Softening Point	25
4.2.1	Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)	. 20
4.2.2 1.2.3	Multiple Stress Creen and Recovery (MSCR)	. 20
4.2.5	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)	. 23
ч.2. <del>ч</del> 125	Saturates Aromatics Resins and Asphaltenes (SARA)	32
4.2.5	Key Findings	3/
<del>ч</del> .0 Б	Stage 3: Apphalt Mixtures Containing PA	25
J.		35
5.1		35
5.2	Properties of the Recovered Bitumens	35
5.2.1	Penetration and Sottening point:	35
5.2.2	Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)	30
5.2.3	Fourier Transforms Informed On extra course (FTID)	37
5.2.4	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTR)	38
5.∠.5	Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA)	39
5.3	Asprial Mixture Testing	41
5.3.1		41
5.3.2	Volumetric Properties of Mixtures	42
5.3.3	Indirect Tensile Stimess Modulus (TISM)	42
5.3.4	vvneei iracking lests (VVII)	43

5.3.5	Resistance to Moisture Damage	44	
5.4	Key Findings	45	
6.	Stage 4: Recyclability Assessments	47	
6.1	Introduction		
6.2	Properties of the Recovered Bitumens		
6.2.1	Penetration and Softening Point		
6.2.2	Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)		
6.2.3	Multiple Stress Creep and Recovery (MSCR)	50	
6.3	Asphalt Mixture Testing	51	
6.3.1	Volumetric Properties of the Mixtures	51	
6.3.2	Indirect Tensile Stiffness Modulus (ITSM)	51	
6.3.3	Wheel Tracking Tests (WTT)	52	
6.3.4	Resistance to Moisture Damage	53	
6.4	Guidance for Assessment Framework	55	
6.5	Key Findings		
7.	Conclusions and Recommendations	57	
Ackno	wledgements	59	
Refere	ences	60	
Apper	ndix A: Bitumen Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt containing PMB	63	
Apper	Appendix B: Road Note 43 Flow Chart for Incorporating RA		
Apper	ndix C: Laboratory Results	65	

#### **Figures**

Figure 1. Project methodology Figure 2. Site-won asphalt Compositional Analysis Figure 3. The main elements of the methodology and experimental design	2 6
Figure 4. Test Apparatus for the MRTFOT	0
Figure 5. The active bitumen availability of RA (RAP BAF) versus the high temperature performance grade (PG [14]	эн) . 12
Figure 6. Penetration and softening point results	. 14
Figure 7. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and the black diagram for the PMB 'A' at different ageir conditions	ıg . 15
Figure 8. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and a black diagram for PMB 'B' at different ageing conditions	. 16
Figure 9. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and a black diagram for PMB 'C' at different ageing conditions	. 16
Figure 10. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and a black diagram for all three PMBs without ageing	g . 17
Figure 11. G-R parameter computed at 0 °C and 1.59 Hz for all three PMBs under different ageing conditions	. 18
Figure 12. The total accumulated strain of the three PMBs under different ageing conditions	. 19
Figure 13. Jnr of the PMBs under different ageing conditions	. 20
Figure 14. Recovery of the PMBs under different ageing conditions	. 20
Figure 15. The elastic response (AASHTO TP 70-13)	. 21
Figure 16. Typical FTIR scan for bitumen PMB 'B' and the procedure for calculating the S=O	. 22
Figure 17. The effect of ageing on sulfoxide.	. 22
Figure 18. The SARA (saturate, aromatic, resins and asphaltenes) compositions of the three PMBs	. 23
Figure 19. Colloidal index (CI) of the three PMBs under different ageing conditions	. 23
Figure 20. Master Curve at 25 °C and a black diagram for the bitumens recovered from the three RAs	. 26
Figure 21. Master Curve at 25 °C and a black diagram for the PMB 'A' and RA 'M42' blends	. 27
Figure 22. Master Curve at 25 °C and a black diagram for the PMB 'B' and RA 'M42' blends	. 27
Figure 23. Master Curve at 25 °C and black diagram for the PMB 'C' and RA 'M42' blends	. 28
Figure 24. G-R parameter computed at 0 °C and 1.59 Hz	. 29
Figure 25. The elastic response of RA bitumens	. 30

Figure 26. The elastic response for the PMB 'A' and RA 'M42' blends	30
Figure 27. The elastic response for the PMB 'B' and RA 'M42' blends	31
Figure 28. The elastic response for the PMB 'C' and RA 'M42' blends	31
Figure 29. The sulfoxide peaks for the different blended bitumens and bitumen recovered from the RA	32
Figure 30. The SARA (saturate, aromatic, resins and asphaltenes) compositions	33
Figure 31. Colloidal index (CI) for RA blends under different ageing conditions	33
Figure 32: Master Curve at 25 °C and a black diagram for the recovered bitumens (Stage 3)	36
Figure 33. G-R parameter computed at 0 °C and 1.59 Hz	37
Figure 34. The elastic response of the RA bitumens and their corresponded blends from Stage 2	38
Figure 35. The sulfoxide peaks for the blended and recovered bitumens	39
Figure 36. The SARA (saturate, aromatic, resins and asphaltenes) compositions	40
Figure 37. Colloidal index (CI) for the blended and recovered bitumens	40
Figure 38. Compositional analysis of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA mixtures.	41
Figure 39. Volumetric Properties of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA mixtures	42
Figure 40. ITSM results of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA	43
Figure 41. WTT results for 0%RA, 25% RA, and 50% RA	44
Figure 42. Indirect Tensile Strength (ITS) of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA	44
Figure 43. Indirect Tensile Strength Ratio (ITSR) of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA	45
Figure 44. Stage 4 methodology	47
Figure 45. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and a black diagram for the recovered bitumens	(Stage
3 and Stage 4)	49
Figure 46. G-R parameter computed at 0 °C and 1.59 Hz	49
Figure 47. The elastic response of the recovered bitumens from Stage 3 and 4	50
Figure 48. Volumetric Properties of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4.2) mixtures	51
Figure 49. ITSM results of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4).	52
Figure 50. WTT results for 0%RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4)	53
Figure 51. Indirect Tensile Strength (ITS) of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4)	54
Figure 52. Indirect Tensile Strength Ratio (ITSR) of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4)	54
Figure 53. Guidance for recovered bitumen assessment of asphalt mixtures containing reclaimed PMB	55

#### **Tables**

Table 1. Classification of PMB	5
Table 2. Site Won Asphalt Materials	5
Table 3. Asphalt mixtures design details	. 12
Table 4. Asphalt mixtures testing summary	. 13
Table 5. Penetration and softening point results of the RAs	. 25
Table 6. Penetration and softening point results	. 26
Table 7. Stages 1 to 3 Penetration and Softening Point Test Results	. 36
Table 8. Stages 3 to 4 Penetration and Softening Point Test Results	. 48

# Glossary

- |G\*|: Complex Shear Modulus
- AASHTO: American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials
- C=O: Carbonyls
- CI: Colloidal Index
- DMA: Dynamic Mechanics Analysis
- DSR: Dynamic Shear Rheometer
- FTIR: Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
- GEL: Gelatinous Structure
- HE: Highways England
- ITSM: Indirect Tensile Stiffness Test
- Jnr: non-recoverable creep compliance
- LTA: Long Term Ageing
- LVE: Linear-Viscoelastic Region
- MCHW: Manual of Contract Documents for Highway Works
- MPA: Mineral Products Association
- MRTFOT: Modified Rolling Thin Film Oven Test
- MSCR: Multiple Stress Creep Recovery
- NCHRP: National Cooperative Highway Research Program
- PMB: Polymer Modified Bitumen
- PSV: Polished Stone Value
- **RA: Reclaimed Asphalt**
- RA1: Laboratory aged RA
- S=O: Sulfoxides
- SARA: Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes
- SOL: Solution Structure
- SP: Softening Point
- STA: Short Term Ageing
- TTSP: Time-Temperature Superposition Principle
- WLF: William, Landel and Ferry Equation
- WTT: Wheel Track Testing

# **Executive Summary**

This report presents the work undertaken under Sub-Task 1: Assessment of Potential Durability Impacts of Reclaimed Asphalt (RA) on Asphalt Mixtures Containing Aged Polymer Modified Bitumen (PMB). This work was a collaborative project between Highways England (HE), Mineral Products Association (MPA) and Eurobitume UK. The overall objective of this project was to improve the assessment of Reclaimed Asphalt (RA) materials used in surface courses and end of life assessment for mixtures containing RA, specifically RA containing PMB (PMBs within RA materials and mixtures containing RAs which also include virgin PMB).

#### Methodology:

The methodology developed for this project focused on making use of scientific protocols that provide the basis for the assessment of RA materials containing PMB. The testing methodology provided effective tools to distinguish between the rheological and chemical properties of different feedstocks of RA containing PMBs. A bitumen recovery protocol was developed for mixtures incorporating RA with PMB and is presented in Appendix A. The bitumen recovery process (extracting the bitumens from asphalt mixtures) used for this project was shown to have minimal impact on degrading the crosslinked polymer network of the bitumens. The Modified Rolling Thin Film Oven Test (MRTFOT) in accordance with MCHW Clause 955 provided a feasible protocol for blending the recovered bitumen from RA with virgin bitumens, as well as a means to accelerate ageing.

The laboratory analysis for this work comprised of four main stages as follows:

Stage 1 (Bitumen Testing): three different PMBs provided by different UK suppliers were subjected to short and long-term ageing. The PMBs were characterised in terms of their rheological and chemical properties after short and long-term ageing.

Stage 2 (Bitumen Blending): recovered bitumens from three different RA sources were characterised for their rheological and chemical properties. Following this, a single RA source was selected for the project. Stage 2 of the project focused on blending at 25% and 50% of the recovered bitumen from the selected RA with the virgin PMBs from Stage 1. This enabled an in-depth analysis and understanding of the interaction, mechanical and performance properties when adding virgin PMBs with aged RA bitumen.

Stage 3 (Asphalt Surface Course Mixtures): Following the key lessons from Stages 1 and 2, Stage 3 focused on selecting 1 RA source and 1 PMB source in addition to using various proportions of virgin aggregate materials to produce asphalt mixtures. The asphalt mixtures were produced at 0% RA with 100% virgin aggregate (Control) mixtures, 25% RA with 75% virgin aggregates and 50% RA with 50% virgin aggregates. The mechanical and performance properties of the asphalt mixtures were assessed. The recovered bitumens from the different mixtures were also subjected to rheological and chemical testing to provide an understanding of their interaction and performance.









Stage 4 (Recyclability Assessments): Stage 4 focused on carrying out an end-of-life and recyclability assessment of aged RA subjected to multiple recycling. The asphalt mixtures produced at Stage 3 from 50% RA were further processed to produce laboratory aged RA. The laboratory aged RA and one PMB plus virgin aggregate were used to produce asphalt mixtures at 50% (lab-aged RA). The asphalt mixtures and the recovered bitumens were evaluated for their mechanical, rheological and performance properties.

Guidance for recovered bitumen assessment of asphalt mixtures containing reclaimed PMB was developed.

#### Key findings:

The key findings from this project show that, following detailed laboratory investigation and analysis, asphalt mixtures produced using 50% RA have comparable mechanical and performance properties to the mixtures containing 100% virgin components (control). The recyclability assessment (Stage 4) indicated that the desired rheological properties of the PMB can be largely maintained after multiple recycling for asphalt mixtures with added highly polymer modified PMB. These findings require validation using full scale asphalt plant and road trials. The findings from this work show the feasibility of improving sustainability of material options by using high levels of RA up to 50% RA. It is strongly recommended that road trial sections are installed (with 0% RA control sections) using 25% and 50% RA for long-term assessment, monitoring and testing. The findings from road trials should provide important additional validation for the current laboratory work, provide a foundation for the development of guidance documents and specifications for the design, testing and use of asphalt mixtures incorporating up to 50% RA with PMB.









# **1.Introduction**

## 1.1 Overview

This work was a collaborative project between Highways England (HE), Mineral Products Association (MPA) and Eurobitume UK. This project was tasked with undertaking an independent review of processes to improve the assessment of Reclaimed Asphalt (RA) materials. This included the end-of-life assessment for mixtures containing RA. The specific objective was to review the feasibility of using RA containing Polymer Modified Bitumen (PMB) in asphalt mixtures (primarily in surface course). The outputs from this work will enable HE and the Collaborative Project Team to further support Sustainable Development Strategies in delivering both economic and environmental benefits. This work aims to provide an improved understanding of the behaviour of PMBs within RA materials (and mixtures containing RAs which include virgin PMB) prior to developing specifications and methods for design, application and assessment.

To achieve the above aims, the following objectives were identified:

- Identify the 'residual' properties of the PMB in RA; taking into consideration the age, polymer content and rheological properties, and RA composition.
- Develop a method for PMB extraction from RA and a protocol for blending extracted bitumen with added new bitumens.
- Assess the physical and chemical properties of the blend, taking into consideration the RA content, type/grade of a new PMB and the long-term ageing potential.
- Evaluate the impact of using a high content of RA to asphalt mixtures, taking into consideration the effect of ageing and moisture-induced damage.
- Assess the effect of multiple recycling on the mechanical properties of asphalt mixtures containing RA including the effect on the rheological properties of the recovered bitumens.

The methodology of this work comprises four main elements to cover the objectives. Figure 1 shows a flow chart illustrating the main elements of the research methodology. The methodology involves an extensive laboratory investigation into PMBs and the recovered RA bitumens in addition to their 'parent' asphalt mixtures. The details of the testing methodology are presented in Section 2.











Figure 1. Project methodology

## **1.2 Background**

Increasing the use of Reclaimed Asphalt (RA) in flexible pavements helps minimise the use of virgin aggregates and bitumens and can reduce the carbon footprint associated with the construction of roads. The increased use of RA to be incorporated into flexible pavements supports the 'Construction 2025' report [1] with aspirations of 50% carbon reduction by 2025 and ultimately the United Kingdom's target for net-zero carbon by 2050.

In the UK, Polymer Modified Bitumen (PMB) has been widely used for decades. PMBs have desirable rheological properties that contribute to enhanced resistance to rutting and fatigue cracking [2–4]. Many PMB asphalt surfaces are now approaching an end of first life, potentially offering a valuable source of RA materials containing bitumens with high quality rheological properties. Research has shown that the inclusion of RA with PMB has generally resulted in improved mechanical and performance properties [5,6]. The main concern with replacing a larger volumetric portion of new mixtures with RA is that the performance requirements may be compromised. This is due to the probable inconsistency of the properties of RA that may vary with, for example: recovery techniques, and the maintenance and inservice history of asphalt pavements [5]. Thus, most highway authorities have restrictions to limit the total amount of RA materials used.









Despite these limitations, researchers, highway authorities and the asphalt industry are collaborating to investigate and develop innovative techniques and designs that enable higher amounts of RA to be incorporated without compromising the mechanical and performance properties of the materials and ultimately, the pavement durability [5,7,8]. The use of high RA content in asphalt mixtures has been shown to provide the potential benefits, particularly when carefully controlled and monitored [7–13].

One important issue that needs to be addressed when designing the asphalt mixtures incorporating RA, is the degrees of blending between the aged bitumen coating the aggregate in the RA and the virgin bitumen. There are typically three assumptions considered for the availability of RA bitumen:

- (i) a no-blending "black rock"- 0% availability;
- (ii) the RA bitumen is fully available and active to blend with the virgin bitumen 100% availability;
- (iii) only a portion of the RA bitumen is available to blend with the virgin bitumen partial availability [14].

Some laboratory based studies indicated that the RA bitumen becomes partially available (to varying degrees) when mixed at elevated temperatures with the virgin aggregates and virgin bitumen [14–16]. On the other hand, a survey conducted by National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Synthesis of Highway Practice 495 [17] reported that 77% of the state highway agencies considered 100% RA bitumen availability; 17% of the state highway agencies considered around 75% of the RA bitumen to be available (partial availability); while only 6% of the respondents of the state highway agencies considered 0% RA bitumen availability [14,17].

Asphalt mixtures designed based on the assumption of 100% availability could lead to dry mixtures with less bitumen available to effectively coat the aggregates contributing to high air void content. These mixtures would be more susceptible to cracking, ravelling and moisture damage. Asphalt mixtures with the assumption of 0% RA bitumen availability could however result in excessive bitumen content, leading to bitumen bleeding and softer asphalt that is susceptible to rutting. Research studies have shown that when less than 30% of RA is mixed at elevated temperatures, the RA bitumen availability approaches 100%; while the assumption of partial availability becomes a greater consideration when more than 30% RA is used [18]. The former is also consistent with some UK practices for incorporating RA in asphalt surface course (such as DMRB HD 31/94 [19] and Road Note 43 [28]), which considers 100% RA bitumen availability when the RA is considered having residual penetration of not less than 15 dmm and added at not more than 10% of the mixture. It is noted that HD 31/94 has been withdrawn with no replacement clause on the use of RA. Nonetheless, the current industry practice continues considering 100% RA bitumen availability even when designing mixtures with high RA contents.

The range and complexity of considerations potentially necessary to be considered when making design assumptions for bitumen availability. This means that the design process and outcome needs to reflect the necessary end performance requirements for the asphalt mixture.









In this project, RA bitumen availability was assumed as 90% during the design of the asphalt mixtures incorporating RA. The next section will cover the materials and experimental programme used in this project.









# **2.** Materials and Experimental Programme

## 2.1 Materials

#### 2.1.1 Virgin Materials

Virgin aggregates, fillers and bitumens used in this project were as follows:

#### Aggregates and Fillers

The virgin aggregate materials used in this project were granite aggregates and limestone filler.

#### **Polymer Modified Bitumens**

In this project, four different polymer modified bitumens (PMBs) were provided by three different bitumen suppliers. The supplier names and product details were anonymised for this project. PMB codes and classifications are reported in Table 1. PMBs 'A', 'B' and 'C' were selected for testing to cover a wide range of properties.

#### Table 1. Classification of PMB

Supplier	Sample Code	EN 14023 Classification	Proposed Selection for Testing
1	А	65/105-50	$\checkmark$
2	В	75/130-75	$\checkmark$
3	С	65/105-75	$\checkmark$
	D	65/105-70	Х

#### 2.1.2 Site Won and Reclaimed Asphalt

Asphalt planings (site-won asphalt) were collected from M1 J23A to 24 (NB), M42 J9-8 (SB) and A5 WB Dordon Roundabout (RAB) to M42 J10. Information associated with these materials is presented below in Table 2. The composition analysis of the planed materials was assessed in accordance with BS EN 12697 parts 1 and 2; a summary of the results is presented in Figure 2. These asphalt planings were assumed to have contained PMBs. In Stage 2, detailed bitumen testing and analysis were also undertaken on the bitumen recovered from these planings to prove or disprove this assumption.

#### Table 2. Site Won Asphalt Materials

Site	Location	Material	Bitumen Content
1	M1 J23A to 24 (NB)		5.2 %
2	M42 J9-8 (SB)	Clause 942 surface course planings	5.2 %
3	A5 WB Dordon RAB to M42 J10	-	4.8 %













The "As planed" asphalt was used as the Reclaimed Asphalt (RA) component without further processing e.g. crushing/screening to individual feedstock size fractions.

# 2.2 Methodology and Experimental Programme

#### 2.2.1 Methodology

The methodology comprised of four main stages as shown in Figure 3.

Stage 1 includes extensive laboratory bitumen testing. The rheological and chemical properties of the three PMBs, 'A', 'B' and 'C', were evaluated under different ageing conditions, i.e. NA (Non-Aged), STA (Short Term Aged) and LTA (Long Term Aged). The Modified Rolling Thin Film Oven Test (MRTFOT) in accordance with MCHW Clause 955, was used to age the PMBs. The PMBs with different ageing conditions were characterised using empirical tests for penetration and softening point; rheological properties using Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA) and Multiple Stress Creep Recovery (MSCR) tests using the Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR); chemical properties using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) and derivation of the basic chemical components of bitumen, i.e. the fractions of Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA).









Stage 2 used the bitumens recovered from three different site won asphalt materials and the PMBs from Stage 1. The different asphalts were typical Clause 942 surface course planings. The recovered bitumens from the asphalt materials were characterised for their physical and chemical properties using the same suite of bitumen testing as in Stage 1. The recovered bitumen from the M42 RA was selected to be blended at 25% and 50% with the three PMBs using the MRTFOT under short- and long-term ageing. In this stage, the virgin PMBs and the recovered bitumens from the RAs are directly blended in the MRTFOT cans, i.e. for 50% blending about 9.5g of the virgin PMB plus 9.5g of recovered bitumen from the RA are added in a MRTFOT sample can and blended. The same suite of bitumen testing as in Stage 1 was also used to characterise the blended bitumens.

Stage 3 involves asphalt mixture production using the M42 RA and PMB 'B' bitumen plus virgin aggregate. The "As planed" asphalt was used as the Reclaimed Asphalt (RA) component without further processing e.g. crushing/screening to individual feedstock size fractions. Therefore, the target grading of the asphalt mixture is achieved by adding specific aggregate size fraction contents. The asphalt mixtures were produced at 0% M42 RA (Control) mixtures, 25% M42 RA and 50% M42 RA. The laboratory manufactured asphalt mixtures were evaluated using the Indirect Tensile Stiffness Test (ITSM), Water Sensitivity, Wheel Track Testing (WTT) in addition to compositional analysis and air voids. The recovered bitumens for the different mixes were also subjected to the same suite of bitumen testing as in Stage 1.

Stage 4 made use of the asphalt mixtures produced at Stage 3 from 50% M42 RA. The asphalt mixtures were produced using 50% M42 RA and were further processed (crushed and long-term aged in an oven at 85°C and for 120 hours) to produce laboratory aged RA (denoted as RA1). The RA1 and one PMB bitumen plus virgin aggregate were used to produce asphalt mixtures at 50% RA1. The asphalt mixtures and the recovered bitumens (from the RA1 and the 50% RA1) were evaluated using the same suite of testing as in Stage 3 and Stage 1 (apart from the FTIR and SARA).











#### Figure 3. The main elements of the methodology and experimental design

The key components of the project including the main tests developed for this project are summarised below:

#### 2.2.2 Modified Rolling Thin Film Oven Test (MRTFOT)

The test protocol to simulate the ageing of a PMB as detailed in MCHW Clause 955 has been adopted in this study. This protocol was also used for the blending of virgin PMB and recovered RA bitumen. For short-term ageing (STA), the samples contained in the modified cans, shown in Figure 4, were conditioned in the oven for 45 mins  $\pm$  1 min at a temperature of 163  $\pm$  1°C.









For long term ageing (LTA), the samples were conditioned firstly for 60 mins  $\pm$  1 min at a temperature of 163  $\pm$  1°C. This was followed by 6 hours  $\pm$  10 minutes at 135  $\pm$  1°C in addition to the time for the MRTFOT to reach 135°C.



#### Figure 4. Test Apparatus for the MRTFOT.

#### 2.2.3 Bitumen Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt

The protocol used for bitumen recovery of the RA was carried out in accordance with BS EN 12697-1 and BS EN 12697-3. The bitumen extraction protocol was modified. The modified protocol makes use of Dichloromethane extraction followed by centrifugation to remove any suspended solids. This is then followed by rotary evaporation to remove the solvents. In this work, a modification has been added, i.e. washing the aggregate with extra solvent and repeating that for 3 to 4 cycles until no discolouration of the solvent is visible, to make sure that the bitumen is fully removed. Details of the modified bitumen extraction protocol are presented in Appendix A.

#### 2.2.4 Penetration and Softening Point

The penetration and softening point for the virgin PMBs, blended bitumens and recovered bitumens were evaluated in accordance with BS EN 1426:2015 (BS 2000-49:2015) and BS EN 1427:2015 (BS 2000-58:2015), respectively. The virgin PMBs and the blended bitumens were tested under different ageing conditions; as-received (NA), short term ageing (STA) and long-term ageing (LTA).

#### 2.2.5 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)

The Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA) of the bitumens was undertaken using a Kinexus DSR+ Model Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR) supplied by Malvern Instruments Ltd. The viscoelastic properties of the bitumens were evaluated using DMA to define the stress-strain-time-temperature response of the bitumens. Master curves of complex modulus |G\*| at a reference temperature of 25 °C were produced for the bitumens using the Time-Temperature Superposition Principle (TTSP) and William, Landel and Ferry (WLF) equation [20].









Black diagrams were also used to show the relationship between stiffness and the viscoelasticity of the materials without the need to apply shift factors to the raw data as required for master curves. They are also useful in distinguishing the thermo-rheological properties of bitumens in one chart.

The bitumen samples were tested under the following settings:

- Oscillatory sweep frequency (0.1, 0.4, 1.0, 1.59, 4.0 and 10.0 Hz)
- Strain control mode within the Linear Viscoelastic (LVE) region (less than 1% strain)
- Parallel plate geometry of 25 mm diameter and 1 mm gap for temperatures (25°C, 35°C, 45°C, 55°C, 60°C, 65°C and 75°C).
- Parallel plate geometry of 8 mm diameter and 2 mm gap for temperatures (35°C, 25°C, 15°C, 5°C and 0 °C)

The Glover-Rowe parameter has been developed as an indication of the behaviour of bitumens at low temperatures. The parameter is computed from the complex modulus and the phase angle as shown below:

$$G - R = \frac{G^* (\cos \delta)^2}{\sin \delta}$$

In this project, the complex modulus (G<sup>\*</sup>) and the phase angle  $\delta$  were taken at 0°C and 1.59 Hz. Research has shown that this parameter can effectively capture the resistance of bitumens to thermal and traffic-induced stresses [21]. The lower the G-R value the better the bitumen is at resisting damage from thermal and traffic-induced cracking, without developing large stresses and regaining its original shape with minimum dissipated energy [21].

The Multiple Stress Creep Recovery (MSCR) test was conducted by applying repeated creep-recovery cycles with 1-second applied to creep shear stress followed by a 9-seconds recovery period in accordance with AASHTO TP 70-13. The main parameters retrieved from MSCR are the non-recoverable creep compliance (Jnr) and the % Recovery. Bitumens that have low Jnr values and high recoveries are less susceptible to rutting at high pavement temperatures. The following test parameters were used for the MSCR test:

- An isothermal temperature of 60°C.
- Two stress levels (0.1 and 3.2 KPa).
- no rest periods when changing stress level.
- Application of 10 cycles at each stress level.
- Parallel plate geometry of 25 mm diameter and 1 mm gap.









## 2.2.6 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

FTIR spectroscopy was used to evaluate the functional characteristics of bitumens under different ageing conditions. The main functional groups of bitumen that are affected by oxidative ageing are Carbonyls C=O (centred around 1700 cm-1) and Sulfoxides S=O (centred around 1030 cm-1) as detailed in [22,23]. Monitoring the formation of the Carbonyls and Sulfoxides can indicate the amount of oxygen intake for the different bitumens due to oxidative ageing. Bitumens that exhibit less oxygen intake during ageing and ultimately less hardening is preferred.

#### 2.2.7 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA)

Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA) analysis were carried out to monitor the evolution of the bitumen samples, as it relates to ageing. The hardening of bitumens during ageing is generally related to volatilization and oxidation of the light components (mainly aromatics) which convert into more chemically polar molecules or asphaltenes. The Colloidal Index (CI), calculated as the ratio between combined contents of asphaltenes and saturates (flocculent agents) and resins and aromatics (peptizing agents), was used to evaluate the stability of the colloidal structure.

$$Colloidal index (CI) = \frac{(asphaltenes + saturates)}{(resins + aromatics)}$$

The proportion of the peptising agents to asphaltenes determines whether the bitumens have sol-type behaviour or gel-type behaviour. If there are adequate peptising agents a solution (SOL) structure bitumen occurs, but a reduction forms a gelatinous (GEL) structure in the bitumen. Bitumens having a CI below 0.7 exhibits typical sol-type behaviour. Bitumens with a CI >1.2 exhibits a gel-type behaviour and bitumens with a CI between 0.7 to 1.2 are considered a sol/gel type structure. Bitumens with sol-type behaviour are considered better able to resist thermal and traffic-induced stresses [24].

#### 2.2.8 Asphalt Mixture Testing

Stone Mastic Asphalt (SMA) is one of the primary asphalt mixture types that is used as a surface course in the strategic road network (SRN). There are many variants of SMA mixture design, and a generic SMA incorporating 10mm nominal aggregate size (SMA 10) following British Standard BS EN 13108-5 and PD 6691:2015+A1:2016 was selected for this study. The target bitumen content was specified as 6.2% by mass of the total mixture. For asphalt mixtures incorporating RA, the active bitumen availability from the RA was assumed as 90%, based on the properties of the recovered bitumen from RA 'M42' (the PGH of RA 'M42' was <75 °C, G\*/sinð values of RA 'M42' recovered bitumen were <1 kPa and <2.2 kPa at 75 °C for non-aged and STA, respectively). This assumption aligns with previous literature, as shown in Figure 5 [14,17]. Three different asphalt mixtures were produced using different RA content of 'M42', i.e. 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA with the PMB 'B'. The asphalt mixtures design and composition of each mixture are illustrated in Table 3.









#### Table 3. Asphalt mixtures design details

Composition	0% RA	25% RA	50% RA	
Virgin aggregate content	100%	75%	50%	_
RA 'M42' content	-	25%	50%	
Virgin PMB 'B' content	6.20%	5.05%	3.86%	
Assumed available bitumen from RA <sup>[Note 1]</sup>	-	1.15%	2.34%	—
Target air voids	4%	4%	4%	—

Note 1: the available bitumen from the RA 'M42' was subtracted from the design bitumen content (6.2%) as follows:

- Assumed bitumen availability from RA = 90%; RA 'M42' bitumen content = 5.2%

For 25% RA: the available bitumen from RA 'M42' = 90% x 5.2% x 25% = 1.15%

For 50% RA: the available bitumen from RA 'M42' = 90% x 5.2% x 50% = 2.34%



# Figure 5. The active bitumen availability of RA (RAP BAF) versus the high temperature performance grade (PGH) [14]

The following protocol was used to manufacture asphalt mixtures incorporating RA:

- The virgin aggregate was preheated for more than 4 hours between 180°C and 200°C.
- The virgin bitumen was also preheated at the recommended mixing temperature of 190°C for 3 hours. The bitumen was stirred thoroughly before mixing.
- The M42 RA was first added to the mixer (preheated at 100 °C) and dry mixed for 5 minutes.
   The mixer temperature was then raised to 170 °C before adding the preheated virgin aggregate.
   The RA and the virgin aggregate were mixed for an additional 2 minutes at 170 °C.
- Finally, the preheated virgin bitumen was then added, and the materials were mixed for a further 2 minutes or until the virgin aggregate was completely coated.
- The asphalt materials placed in a slab mould (305 x 400mm) were then compacted at temperatures of (140°C to 150°C) using a laboratory steel roller.

Table 4 presents the summary of asphalt mixture testing carried out in Stage 3 and Stage 4.









#### Table 4. Asphalt mixtures testing summary

Phase	Asphalt Mixture ID	Description	Asphalt Mixture Tests
Stage 3	0% RA	Asphalt mixture produced using 100% of virgin aggregate and PMB 'B'	<ul> <li>Compositional Analysis in accordance with BS EN 12697- 1 and 2.</li> </ul>
	25% RA	Asphalt mixture produced using 25% of RA 'M42' and 75% of virgin aggregate and PMB 'B'	<ul> <li>Maximum density in accordance with BS EN 12697-5.</li> </ul>
	50% RA	Asphalt mixture produced using 50% of RA 'M42' and 50% of virgin aggregate and PMB 'B'	<ul> <li>Bulk densities in accordance with BS EN 12697-6.</li> <li>ITSM in accordance with BS EN</li> </ul>
Stage 4	50% RA1	Asphalt mixture produced using 50% of RA1 and 50% of virgin aggregate and PMB 'B'. RA1 is produced by ageing the Stage 3 – 50% RA (i.e. Asphalt mixture produced	<ul> <li>12697-26</li> <li>WTT in accordance with BS EN 12697-22 using the small device to 10,000 cycles.</li> </ul>
		using 50% of RA 'M42' and 50% of virgin aggregate and PMB 'B') in an oven at 85°C and for 120 hours	<ul> <li>Water Sensitivity Tests in accordance with BS EN 12697- 12</li> </ul>









# **3.Stage 1: Characterisation of the Bitumens and the Effect of Ageing**

## 3.1 Introduction

This section presents the results of testing conducted on three different virgin PMBs, labelled as 'A', 'B' and 'C'. This part of the study aims to understand the effects of ageing conditions on the physical and chemical properties of those PMBs. Physical properties included empirical tests for penetration and softening point and fundamental analysis using DMA and MSCR. Chemical properties were evaluated using FTIR and SARA analysis. This section provides a detailed analysis and highlights the key differences between the PMBs. The key findings from this exercise are also summarised and presented at the end of this section.

## 3.2 Test Results

#### 3.2.1 Penetration and Softening Point

Figure 6 shows the results of the penetration and softening point test results for the three different PMBs and after the different ageing conditions.



Figure 6. Penetration and softening point results

Figure 6 shows that PMB 'B' had higher penetration values following the different ageing conditions. PMB 'B' was the softest bitumen in comparison to the other PMBs 'A' and 'C'.

The penetration values for all the PMBs decreased as expected with ageing. This is attributed to hardening due to ageing. The softening point increased with ageing for PMBs 'A and C'.









The softening point decreased with ageing for PMB 'B'. PMB 'B' is a highly polymer modified bitumen (as indicated by its higher softening point with a relatively higher penetration value). The polymer for PMB 'B' could have been degraded into lower molecular weight due to the ageing conditions leading to a lowering of the softening point.

#### 3.2.2 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)

Figure 7 to Figure 9 show the master curves and the black diagrams for the three PMBs under different ageing conditions. Figure 7 shows that the effect of ageing on the G\* master curves is associated with an increase in G\* and a shift for the black diagrams towards lower phase angles, indicating a higher elastic response. The smooth shape of the black diagram in Figure 7 resembled the general behaviour of unmodified bitumen [25] thus PMB 'A' could be characterised as a low polymer modified bitumen.



# Figure 7. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and the black diagram for the PMB 'A' at different ageing conditions

The master curves in Figure 8 shows a similar trend to that found in the PMB 'A' except that the relative increase in  $G^*$  after ageing is significantly reduced over the frequency domain and there is a slight decrease in the  $G^*$  master curve at low frequencies after STA ageing. The black diagrams, in Figure 8, show a considerable difference from that found in the PMB 'A'. A typical 3-shape curve is formed for the black diagrams in Figure 8 indicating PMB 'B' is a highly polymer modified bitumen [25]. The effect of ageing on the black diagrams is associated with a shift towards lower phase angles for  $G^*$  values greater than  $10^5$  Pa but there is a clear shift towards higher phase angles for  $G^*$  values lower than  $10^4$  Pa. The increase in higher phase angles for  $G^*$  values lower than  $10^4$  Pa. The polymer network (the polymer dominant areas are at high temperatures and low frequencies) because of ageing conditions. This behaviour of PMB 'B' was also evident in the softening point section, as the softening point of PMB 'B' decreased with ageing.











Figure 8. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and a black diagram for PMB 'B' at different ageing conditions

The G\* master curves for the PMB 'C' showed a significant increase in the G\* after ageing. Unlike PMBs 'A and B', the increase is very clear at high frequencies and low temperatures. The black diagrams in Figure 9 also resemble a typical 3-shape indicating a clear crosslinked polymer structure. The effect of ageing led to a shift for the black diagrams towards lower phase angles for G\* values higher than 10<sup>4</sup>.





Figure 10 shows the master curves and black diagrams of the unaged PMBs. The master curves for PMBs 'C and B' showed higher G\* within the polymer-rich phase (low frequencies and high temperatures) compared to PMB 'A'. The G\* master curve for PMB 'C' exhibited desirable thermo-rheological properties, i.e. high G\* at low frequencies and/or high temperatures (desirable for rutting resistance); and low G\* at high frequencies and/or low temperatures (desirable for fatigue and thermal cracking resistance).











The black diagrams showed a smooth curve for PMB 'A' indicating a lower polymer modification compared to the typical 3-shape for PMBs 'B and C' indicating a high polymer modification.

Figure 10. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and a black diagram for all three PMBs without ageing

Figure 11 shows the results of the G-R parameter. The results showed that the G-R parameter increased with ageing indicating that the PMBs would become more susceptible to thermal and traffic-induced cracking with ageing. Figure 11 show that PMB 'C' exhibited the lowest G-R values followed by PMB 'B' and then PMB 'A'. For comparison, the G-R parameters for a 40/60 paving grade bitumen (LTA) were around 300 MPa, a 70/100 paving grade bitumen (LTA) was around 200 MPa, whilst for a 160/220 paving grade bitumen (LTA) was around 50 MPa [26]. This suggests that, after LTA, the low temperature parameter (related to thermal and traffic-induced cracking) of PMBs 'B' and 'C' was found to be closer to that of a 160/220 paving grade bitumen.











Figure 11. G-R parameter computed at 0 °C and 1.59 Hz for all three PMBs under different ageing conditions

#### 3.2.3 Multiple Stress Creep and Recovery (MSCR)

The previous DMA analyses have dealt with the properties of materials within a linear viscoelastic region. The MSCR test was also conducted to understand the behaviour of PMBs at high stresses that are outside the linear viscoelastic region.

Figure 12 shows the accumulated strains consisting of 10 cycles of creep and recovery over 0.1 kPa and 3.2 kPa stress levels for a total of 200 seconds test duration. The results indicate that PMB 'A' (unaged and STA) exhibited the highest accumulated strain in comparison to PMB 'B' and 'C'. PMBs 'A and C' followed the anticipated trend with ageing, i.e. increase in stiffness with ageing and, thus, accumulated lower strains. PMB 'B' experienced the opposite trend by accumulating higher strains with ageing. This confirmed the behaviour shown in the softening point and DMA section that the crosslinked polymer network could have been degraded due to the ageing conditions.











Figure 12. The total accumulated strain of the three PMBs under different ageing conditions

Accumulated time (s)

Figure 13 shows the results of non-recoverable compliance (Jnr) (average value for the 10 creep and recovery cycles) over 0.1 kPa and 3.2 kPa stress levels at a test temperature of 60 °C. The range bars represent the maximum and minimum values of the 10 cycles. Figure 13 shows that the PMB 'A' has the greatest Jnr values before LTA ageing compared to PMBs 'B and C'. The effect of LTA ageing has resulted in the hardening of PMB 'A'. The results in Figure 13 showed an opposite trend for PMB 'B' with Jnr values increased with ageing. This also confirmed previous tests and analysis with regards to the behaviour of PMB 'B'. Partial polymer degradation can, therefore, contribute to compensate for the hardening in the rheological properties due to oxidative ageing, i.e. reduce the hardening susceptibility of PMBs after ageing.











Figure 13. Jnr of the PMBs under different ageing conditions.

Figure 14 shows the average percentage recovery of 10 cycles at stress levels 0.1kPa and 3.2 kPa). The range bars represent the maximum and minimum values of the 10 cycles. PMBs 'B and C' showed higher recoveries than PMB 'A'. The effect of STA and LTA ageing were similar for PMBs 'A and C'. The recoveries decreased after STA and increased after LTA. For PMB 'B', the decrease in recoveries maintained after both STA and LTA. The different trends are attributed to the combined effects of the ageing of the base bitumen and the polymer. For STA and LTA of PMB 'B' and STA for PMB 'A and C', the polymer degradation (softening effect) due to ageing was dominant over the base bitumen (hardening effect); while for the LTA of PMBs 'A and C', the hardening of base bitumen was dominant over the polymer degradation.



Figure 14. Recovery of the PMBs under different ageing conditions









Figure 15 is used by AASHTO TP 70-13 as an indicator of the presence of an acceptable elastomeric polymer. The average percentage recovery at 3.2 kPa, versus the average non-recoverable creep compliance at 3.2 kPa was plotted on the graph. All the PMBs after the different ageing conditions were above the line indicating an "acceptable" elastomeric polymer behaviour.



Figure 15. The elastic response (AASHTO TP 70-13)

#### 3.2.4 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

Figure 16 shows typical results of FTIR scan spectra (bandwidth vs absorbances) for the PMB 'B' under different oxidative conditions. The S=O peaks showed a consistent trend throughout the FTIR testing. The average peaks calculated are shown in Figure 16. These presented a quantitative indication for the effect of ageing. The results in Figure 17 show qualitatively the effect of ageing on the Sulfoxides S=O with peaks visible at approximately 1027 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Figure 17 shows that the peaks for S=O for all the PMBs, as expected, increased with ageing. There was only one exception, with PMB 'C' showing a decrease after STA.













Figure 16. Typical FTIR scan for bitumen PMB 'B' and the procedure for calculating the S=O



#### Figure 17. The effect of ageing on sulfoxide.









#### 3.2.5 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA)

Figure 18 shows the changes of the four SARA fractions with ageing. For PMBs 'A' and 'C', the trend is consistent for the aromatics and asphaltenes. The aromatics decreased and the asphaltenes increased with ageing.



#### Figure 18. The SARA (saturate, aromatic, resins and asphaltenes) compositions of the three PMBs

Figure 19 shows that all the PMBs exhibited a sol-type behaviour with CI values <0.7. This was evident even after LTA. The PMBs changed towards a more gel-like colloidal structure with ageing. PMB 'B' showed the most sol-type behaviour (lowest CI values) in comparison to other bitumens.



Figure 19. Colloidal index (CI) of the three PMBs under different ageing conditions









# 3.3 Key Findings

Comprehensive physical and chemical evaluations were carried out on the three selected virgin PMBs. The effect of oxidative ageing using MRTFOT on the properties of the PMBs was assessed. From the results presented in this section, the following summary and conclusions are drawn:

- The analysis of softening point, DMA and MSCR showed that oxidative ageing can partly disintegrate the polymer network, resulting in softening the PMB. This was clear for PMB 'B'. The presence of polymer can, therefore, contribute to reducing the hardening susceptibility of PMBs from ageing.
- 2. The DMA and MSCR analysis provided effective tools to distinguish between the properties of different PMBs. In particular, the black diagram and the relationship between non-recoverable compliance (Jnr) and the recovery from the MSCR found to be sensitive to the level of a crosslinked polymer structure. The DMA and MSCR showed that PMBs 'B and C' were highly polymer modified PMBs while PMB 'A' was a relatively lower polymer modified PMB. All the PMBs under different ageing conditions maintained an "acceptable" level of elastomeric polymer response in accordance with AASHTO TP 70-13.
- 3. The G-R parameter derived from the DMA testing at low temperature (0°C) was able to capture the effect of ageing on the cracking resistance of PMBs. The G-R results showed that PMB 'C' had the lowest G-R values indicating superior cracking resistance followed by PMB 'B' and then PMB 'A'. These results highlight the importance of characterisation of the PMBs using fundamental testing such as DMA and MSCR. Using only empirical testing, e.g. penetration, indicated that PMB 'C' was the hardest (lowest penetration) and consequently would have been perceived as being inferior in cracking properties.
- 4. The chemical analysis using the FTIR and SARA showed that the PMBs had consistent behaviour with regards to the effect of ageing. The SARA analysis indicated all the PMBs under different ageing conditions exhibited sol-type behaviour with CI values <0.7.







# 4. Stage 2: Characterisation of RA Blended Bitumens

# 4.1 Introduction

The MRTFOT was used to directly blend the virgin PMBs (from Stage 1) with bitumens recovered from three different RA sources. Using the MRTFOT enabled mechanical interaction between the virgin and recovered RA bitumens and allowed evaluation of the short-term and long-term ageing of the blends at the same time. The rheological and chemical properties of the RAs are presented in this section. The rheological and chemical properties of the resultant blends (containing 25% or 50% of recovered bitumens from RA) under different ageing condition are also introduced. For the 25% and 50%, about 4.75g and 9.5g of the recovered bitumen from the RA plus 14.25g and 9.5g of the virgin PMB were blended under different ageing conditions in the MRTFOT sample can, respectively. This section provided a detailed analysis and understanding of the level of interaction between virgin PMBs and recovered bitumens from the RAs.

## 4.2 Test Results

#### 4.2.1 Penetration and Softening Point

Table 5 shows the results of the penetration and softening point tests on the bitumens recovered from the different RA. The penetration and softening point results of the three RA 'M1, M42 and A5' showed that the bitumens had penetration > 45 dmm and softening point <54  $^{\circ}$ C.

Testing	M1	M42	A5	
Penetration (dmm)	56	64	45	
Softening Point (°C)	52.4	51.0	53.4	

#### Table 5. Penetration and softening point results of the RAs

The composition analysis of the M1 and M42 site-won planings (Figure 2) and the recovered bitumen properties of these RAs (Table 5) appear to be comparable, and only one source of RA was to be considered for the next analysis. The RA from the M42 was, therefore, selected to be blended with the virgin PMBs for additional tests. Table 6 presents the penetration and softening point results for the blends of RA 'M42' recovered bitumens with the virgin PMBs under STA and LTA using the MRTFOT. The effect of STA and LTA on the 50% blends (M42 RA with the PMBs) led to a considerable decrease in the penetration values suggesting a hardening of the materials. The M42 RA seemed to be very susceptible to oxidative ageing via MRTFOT resulting in a considerable decrease in the penetration result of the blended bitumens. To illustrate, in Stage 1 the penetration of PMB 'A' after STA and LTA were 43 dmm and 22 dmm, respectively. However, the 50% blends for PMB 'A' with the recovered bitumen from M42 RA (64 dmm) exhibited a reduction in penetration to 25 dmm and 12 dmm after STA and LTA, respectively.









The softening point increased with ageing for the 50% blends, however, for the 25% blends, softening point decreased with ageing, due to the degradation of polymers (contains 75% of PMB 'B').

Testing	M42									
	100% RA	50% RA/50% PMB						25% RA/75% PMB		
		A _STA	A _LTA	B _STA	B _LTA	C _STA	C _LTA	B _STA	B _LTA	
Penetration (dmm)	64	25	12	36	25	27	17	52	33	
Softening Point (°C)	51.0	60.8	70.6	61.6	66.0	68.8	74.6	73.6	65.6	

#### Table 6. Penetration and softening point results

#### 4.2.2 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)

Figure 20 shows the master curves and the black diagrams for the three bitumens recovered from the supplied RA (M45, M1 and A5). A 40/60 penetration paving grade bitumen was used as a reference bitumen for comparison in the DMA analysis as shown below in Figure 20. The master curves did not show a significant difference between the different RAs and highlighted that they were softer than the 40/60 paving grade bitumen after LTA. The master curves agree with the penetration and softening point results in Table 5 with the RA 'A5' as the hardest followed by 'M1' and then 'M42'. The black diagrams for the RAs are generally similar in shape (smooth shape) to the unmodified bitumens with slightly lower phase angles (more elastic) than the paving grade bitumen 40/60 at high temperatures. These results provide weak evidence of the presence of polymer modification.



Figure 20. Master Curve at 25 °C and a black diagram for the bitumens recovered from the three RAs Figure 21 to Figure 23 show the master curves and black diagrams for the RA 'M42' recovered bitumen and its blends with other virgin PMBs using MRTFOT ageing protocols after STA and LTA. The G\* master curves, in Figure 21, for the 50/50 M42/A blends (after STA and LTA) exhibited higher values over the frequency domain than the 100% PMB 'A' or 100% RA 'M42' recovered bitumen. The master curves and penetration results suggested that oxidative ageing has a larger effect when the PMBs are blended with the RA.









The black diagrams for the 50/50 blends in Figure 21 fell between the virgin PMBs (more elastic) and the virgin RA (more viscous) performances. The effect of ageing on the blends was similar to the virgin PMBs, i.e. the black diagrams shifted towards lower phase angles with ageing.





The G\* master curves for the RA 'M42' recovered bitumen, as shown in Figure 22, increased after blending with PMB 'B', particularly at low frequencies and/or high temperatures. The black diagrams for the 50/50 and 25/75 blends, shown in Figure 22, took a polymeric typical 3-shape and fell between the virgin PMB (more elastic) and the RA bitumen (more viscous) performances. Figure 22 shows that there was a slight difference in terms of master curves and black diagrams between the 50/50 and 25/75 blends.





Figure 23 shows a noticeable increase in the G\* values for the 50/50 M42/PMB 'C' compared to the 100% RA M42 and the virgin PMBs over the frequency domain. The black diagrams, in Figure 23, for 50/50 blends resemble more the RA 'M42' (smooth shape) than the PMB 'C' (polymeric 3-shape).










Figure 23. Master Curve at 25 °C and black diagram for the PMB 'C' and RA 'M42' blends

Figure 24 shows the results for the G-R parameters for the different RAs recovered bitumens and the blends of RA 'M42' recovered bitumens with other virgin PMBs. The G-R value of the RA 'M42' recovered bitumen was interestingly comparable to the virgin PMBs shown in Figure 11. The results of the RAs agree with the penetration results in Table 5 where the RA 'M42' recovered bitumen was the softest followed by 'M1' and then 'A5'. The effect of adding the RA 'M42' recovered bitumen combined with the effect of MRTFOT ageing conditions led to a considerable increase in the G-R values indicating the hardening of the materials. The G-R values, as expected, increased with ageing for the PMBs and RA 'M42' blends. The G-R values decreased when reducing the percentage of RA for the M42/B blends. The results of the G-R values for the PMBs and RA 'M42' blends agree with the G-R results in Figure 11 for the virgin PMBs where bitumen 'C' exhibited the lowest G-R values followed by PMB 'B' and then PMB 'A'.











#### Figure 24. G-R parameter computed at 0 °C and 1.59 Hz

### 4.2.3 Multiple Stress Creep and Recovery (MSCR)

Figure 25 shows that all the recovered bitumens from RAs 'M42, M1 and A5' fell below the line indicating "insufficient" elastomeric polymer recovery. The recoveries of the RAs were slightly higher than the 40/60 paving grade bitumen, although their Jnr values were higher than the 40/60 paving grade bitumen. These results may be indicative of the presence of very low polymer modification (or the effects of polymer degradation).











#### Figure 25. The elastic response of RA bitumens

The results in Figure 26 showed that blending 50% of PMB 'A' with the RA 'M42' did not provide "acceptable" polymer modification in accordance with AASHTO TP 70-13. The effect of ageing, as expected, increased the recovery percentages and decreased the Jnr values.



#### Figure 26. The elastic response for the PMB 'A' and RA 'M42' blends

The blended bitumens of RA 'M42' with PMB 'B' at 25% and 50% fell above the line, as shown in Figure 27, indicating an "acceptable" elastomeric polymer behaviour except for the 50/50 M42/B blend after STA. The results of recoveries of the blends increased with ageing, whilst the Jnr values decreased with ageing.











Figure 27. The elastic response for the PMB 'B' and RA 'M42' blends

Figure 28 shows that the blended 50% of PMB 'C' with RA 'M42' was adequate to provide "acceptable" elastomeric polymer in accordance with AASHTO TP 70-13. The effect of ageing on the 50/50 blends increased the recoveries and decreased the Jnr values.



Figure 28. The elastic response for the PMB 'C' and RA 'M42' blends









### 4.2.4 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

Figure 29 presents the analysis of total peaks for the sulfoxide for the blends of RA 'M42' with different PMBs. As expected, the total peaks increased with ageing for all the blends. The peak results of 75% PMB 'B' blends were, as expected, lower than for the 50% blends. The results for the different RAs 'M42, M1, and A5' were relatively higher than the PMBs and their blends. The S=O peaks for the RA 'M42' were slightly lower than other RAs 'M1 and A5'





#### 4.2.5 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA)

Figure 30 presents the percentages of the four SARA fractions for different RAs 'M42, M1 and A5' in addition to the blends of RA 'M42' with the PMBs under different ageing conditions. The four SARA fractions varied from one RA to another, as shown in Figure 30, with the RA 'M42' having the greatest asphaltenes percentage. The effect of ageing on the blends was generally associated with an increasing percentage of asphaltenes and resins, and a decreasing percentage of aromatics and saturates. The addition of RA 'M42' to the virgin PMBs increased the percentage of asphaltene and decreased the percentage of aromatics. Figure 31 showed that all the RAs and the blends of RA 'M42' exhibited a sol-type behaviour <0.7 CI. The results in Figure 31 also showed that the blends of RA 'M42' with PMB 'B' showed the most sol-type behaviour (lowest CI values) in comparison to other blends which agreed with previous SARA results for the PMB 'B'. The CI values were slightly increased by the addition of RA 'M42'.















Figure 31. Colloidal index (CI) for RA blends under different ageing conditions









## 4.3 Key Findings

The MRTFOT, in accordance with MCHW Clause 955, was used to mechanically blend the virgin PMBs with the recovered RA bitumen under STA and LTA conditions. The resultant bitumens were characterised for their physical and chemical properties. This section also presented the properties of the RAs. Given the results presented in this section, the following summary and conclusions are drawn:

- The physical and chemical properties of the different RAs considered in this study suggested that the RAs had not been significantly aged. The test results on bitumens recovered from the RAs did not indicate a clear presence for polymer modification.
- 2. The combined effect of adding RAs and MRTFOT ageing can lead to significant hardening of the virgin PMBs.
- 3. The computed G-R parameters at low temperature (0°C) provided a consistent evaluation of the combined effect of MRTFOT ageing and the addition of RAs. The analysis of the G-R parameter showed that the addition of RAs to virgin PMBs with MRTFOT ageing can reduce the ability of materials to accommodate thermal and traffic-induced stresses.
- 4. An "acceptable" elastomeric polymer response, in accordance with AASHTO TP 70-13, can still be maintained by adding up to 50% of RAs to a highly polymer modified bitumen such as PMB 'C'. The addition of 50% of RA did not maintain an "acceptable" elastomeric polymer response when blended with a lower polymer modified bitumen such as PMB 'A'.
- 5. The chemical analysis using FTIR and SARA agreed with the physical analysis with regard to the combined effect of MRTFOT ageing and the addition of RAs. The FTIR analysis showed a consistent increase in S=O peaks with the addition of RAs and the MRTFOT ageing. The SARA analysis showed that the addition of RAs to the virgin PMBs and the MRFTOT ageing increased the percentage of asphaltene and decreased the percentage of aromatics indicating the hardening of the materials.









# **5. Stage 3: Asphalt Mixtures Containing RA**

# 5.1 Introduction

The analysis presented in previous sections (Stage 1 and 2) provided an in-depth understanding of the properties of virgin PMBs and the combined effect of adding recovered RA bitumen and ageing on these properties. This section focuses on the properties of asphalt mixtures containing one virgin PMB and one RA source in addition to using various proportions of virgin aggregate materials. This section also presents the chemical and physical properties of the bitumens recovered from the mixtures. This section aims to provide an understanding of the interaction and performance of asphalt mixtures and the resultant bitumens (blends of virgin and RA bitumens). This section also provides a comparison between the properties of the resultant bitumens obtained from Stage 2 (directly blended using MRTFOT) and from the current stage (recovered from asphalt mixtures).

## 5.2 Properties of the Recovered Bitumens

The properties of the recovered bitumens from different asphalt mixtures (0% RA, 25% and 50% RA) are presented in this section. Following the analysis and findings from Stages 1 and 2, the selected RA was taken from planings from the 'M42' and the selected virgin bitumen was PMB 'B'. The analysis of Stage 1 (Bitumen Testing) has shown that the PMB 'B' was more susceptible to polymer degradation during the laboratory ageing process. It was, therefore, decided to select this PMB for further analysis under the asphalt mixture conditions. The process of blending the virgin PMB to the asphalt mixture containing RA can provide a more realistic picture of the interaction between the virgin PMB and the RA bitumen, where it can be anticipated that not all bitumen in the RA will be available to interact with the added virgin PMB. The bitumen content found in the RA 'M42' was less than the designed bitumen content, which may not be surprising considering the action of traffic, environmental effects, and planing processes.

### 5.2.1 Penetration and Softening point:

The penetration and softening point results for the recovered bitumens are shown in Table 7 (Stage 3 column). Table 7 also includes the penetration and softening point results of PMB 'B' and the RA 'M42' blends from Stage 1 and Stage 2 to provide comparisons on the effect of different conditions associated with each stage, i.e. blending, interaction, ageing conditions, asphalt manufacture and recovery process. The results in Table 7 for stages 1 to 3 provided consistent results with minor differences that can be attributed to the different conditions associated with each stage. For example, the penetration and softening point for the recovered bitumen from 0% RA were very close to their corresponding values in Stage 1, e.g. PMB 'B' after STA. These results suggested that the recovery process had a negligible effect on degrading the crosslinked polymer network.









Test	Stage 1:			Stage 2 (MRTFOT blending)				Stage 3: Asphalt Mixtures		
	PMB 'B' (75-130/75)			25% RA 'M42'/ 75% PMB 'B'		50% RA 'M42'/ 50% PMB 'B'		Recovered binders		
	NA	STA	LTA	STA	LTA	STA	LTA	0% RAP (Control)	25% RAP 'M42'	50% RAP 'M42'
Penetration (dmm)	94	66	40	52	33	36	25	69	58	44
Softening Point (°C)	90.5	88	67.6	73,6	65.6	61.6	66	85.5	63.6	72.6

#### Table 7. Stages 1 to 3 Penetration and Softening Point Test Results

### 5.2.2 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)

Figure 32 shows the master curves and black diagrams of the bitumens recovered from asphalt mixtures made using different contents of RA 'M42', e.g. (0%, 25% and 50% of 'RA 'M42'). Increasing the RA content has increased the complex modulus over the frequency domain. The results of G\* values agree with the penetration relationship between different RA contents shown in Table 7. The black diagrams for the recovered bitumens showed a typical 3-shape with phase angle values < 70 degrees for all the recovered bitumens indicating that a good crosslinked polymer network can still be established with up to 50% RA. This confirmed previous penetration and softening point values that the recovery process had a negligible effect on degrading the crosslinked polymer network. The results at this stage align in general with the corresponding bitumens in Stage 2.



#### Figure 32: Master Curve at 25 °C and a black diagram for the recovered bitumens (Stage 3)

Figure 33 shows the results for the G-R parameters computed at 0 °C for bitumens recovered from mixtures (Stage 3) alongside their corresponding bitumens from Stage 1 and Stage 2. The G-R values for the PMB showed similar values under Stage 1 and Stage 3 conditions confirming the penetration and softening results in Table 7. The G-R values, as expected, increased with increasing the RA content. The addition of 25% RA resulted in only a slight increase in the G-R value. The G-R values for the bitumens recovered from asphalt mixtures containing RA (Stage 3) were generally smaller than their corresponding values in Stage 2.









The recovered bitumens (Stage 3) from asphalt mixtures made using 25% RA and 50% RA contained a larger amount of PMB 'B' than their corresponding bitumens in (Stage 2), Figure 24. The larger amount of the virgin PMB of (Stage 3) contributed to good rheological properties compared to their corresponding bitumens in (Stage 2).



Figure 33. G-R parameter computed at 0 °C and 1.59 Hz

### 5.2.3 Multiple Stress Creep and Recovery (MSCR)

The average percentage recovery at 3.2 kPa stress, versus the average non-recoverable creep compliance at 3.2 kPa stress is shown in Figure 34. The PMB 'B' from Stage 1 and the blended bitumens (25% and 50% RA 'M42') after STA from Stage 2 were also introduced alongside the recovered bitumens (Stage 3) for comparison. For example, the recovered bitumens from asphalt mixtures made using 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA corresponding to the bitumens in Stage 1 and Stage 2 of PMB 'B' STA, 25/75 M42/B STA and 50/50 M42/B STA, respectively. Figure 34 shows that as RA content increases, the relative difference between the corresponding bitumens also increases. All the recovered bitumens fell above the line indicating an "acceptable" elastomeric polymer response which confirmed previous results. The results of recoveries, as expected, decreased with the increase of RA content.











Figure 34. The elastic response of the RA bitumens and their corresponded blends from Stage 2

### 5.2.4 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

Figure 35 shows the S=O peaks for the recovered bitumens from asphalt mixtures made using 0% RA, 25% RA 'M42' and 50% RA 'M42', in addition to the results of PMB 'B' and the RA 'M42' blends from Stage 1 and Stage 2, to evaluate the effect of different conditions associated with each stage. The results in Figure 35 showed an almost consistent trend with regards to the impact of RA content where the S=O peaks increased with increasing the RA content. However, the S=O peaks of the recovered bitumens from the asphalt mixtures were almost three times greater than those of their corresponding bitumens from Stage 1 and Stage 2. It should be mentioned that the FTIR measurements are very sensitive to any trace of contamination that could have remained during the recovery process.











#### Figure 35. The sulfoxide peaks for the blended and recovered bitumens

#### 5.2.5 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, and Asphaltenes (SARA)

Figure 36 shows the percentages of the four SARA fractions for the recovered bitumens from asphalt mixtures made using 0% RA, 25% RA 'M42' and 50% RA 'M42' in addition to their corresponding bitumens from Stage 1 and Stage 2. The recovered bitumens showed higher asphaltenes and lower aromatics compared to their corresponding bitumens from Stage 1 and 2, The recovered bitumens showed an increase in the asphaltenes and a decrease in the aromatics with increasing RA content. The colloidal indices, as shown in Figure 37 exhibited an increase for the recovered bitumens in comparison to their corresponding bitumens. The bitumens changed towards a more gel-like colloidal structure with increasing RA, indicating that the bitumens would be more susceptible to thermal and traffic-induced stresses. However, all the bitumens are considered to have sol-type behaviour <0.7 Cl. The chemical results for the recovered bitumens (Stage 3) seemed to contradict the G-R results in Figure 33, i.e. higher Cl values would indicate lower thermal and traffic cracking resistance. However, the larger amount of virgin PMB in the recovered bitumens of (Stage 3) are suggested to have a dominant effect in lowering the G-R values over the SARA fractions.















Figure 37. Colloidal index (CI) for the blended and recovered bitumens





eurobitume



## 5.3 Asphalt Mixture Testing

The asphalt mixtures were produced at 0% RA with 100% virgin aggregate (Control) mixes, 25% RA with 75% virgin aggregates and 50% RA with 50% virgin aggregates. The next sections present the results of mechanical testing conducted on those mixtures,

#### 5.3.1 Composition Analysis

The test results of the compositional analysis are graphically shown in Figure 38. The grading analysis of 0% RA and 25% RA comply with specification requirements. However, the bitumen content of 25% RA and 50% RA were found to be below the designed bitumen content. The results of bitumen content for the 25% RA and 50% RA mixes suggested that the active bitumen availability from the RA is less than 90%.



Figure 38. Compositional analysis of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA mixtures.

Despite the reduced found bitumen content, it did not present any adverse impact on compliance with specification requirements for compactability, the volumetric properties and the mechanical properties of these manufactured asphalt mixtures. Details are presented in the following sections.









#### 5.3.2 Volumetric Properties of Mixtures

The bulk densities of the asphalt mixtures were measured in accordance with BS EN 12697-6:2020 - Method B. The findings shown in Figure 39, represent the average values of at least 8 samples for each mixture with the range bars representing the maximum and minimum values. The maximum density of the control mixture (0% RA) was slightly lower than the 25% RA and the 50% RA. The 0% RA mixture had air void contents of 4.6% while those with 25% RA had air void contents of 5.8% and 50% RA had air void contents of 3.2%. The results of air voids complied with requirements (mean- 2 to 6%), although there is a variation between the minimum and maximum values.



#### Figure 39. Volumetric Properties of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA mixtures.

#### 5.3.3 Indirect Tensile Stiffness Modulus (ITSM)

ITSM testing was conducted at 20°C in accordance with BS EN 12697-26: 2004 (Annex C). The ITSM test results for the asphalt mixtures are illustrated in Figure 40. The ITSM test results were all in the range of 1,000 to 2,000 MPa with the ITSM increasing with the increase of RA content. These results agree with the rheological properties of the recovered bitumens presented in Table 7 and Figure 32. Published 20°C ITSM data for thin surfacings (Stone Mastic Asphalt (SMA)) are reported to have a typical stiffness value in the range of 1,000 MPa to 3,500 MPa when new [27]. This can increase by a factor of 1.5 to 2.0 when aged in service.











Figure 40. ITSM results of 0% RA, 25% RA and 50% RA.

## 5.3.4 Wheel Tracking Tests (WTT)

Resistance to deformation was measured using Wheel Tracking Tests (WTT) in accordance with EN 12697-22:2020 using the small device to 10,000 cycles. Each result presented for WTT is the mean value of the 2 comparable samples tested. Figure 41 shows the rut depth at 10,000 cycles and the wheel track slope (WTS). The values of the measured rut depth ranged from 2.4 mm for the 25% RA to 2.8 mm for the 50% RA. The wheel track slope (WTS) in air measurements were in the range of 0.039 mm/1000 cycles - 0.059 mm/1000 cycles and comply with requirements defined in PD 6691:2015+A1:2016. The results of WTT indicated that all mixtures have excellent rutting resistance.











#### Figure 41. WTT results for 0%RA, 25% RA, and 50% RA

### 5.3.5 Resistance to Moisture Damage

Resistance to moisture damage of the asphalt mixtures was measured by conducting water sensitivity testing in accordance with EN 12697-12:2018 – Method A.

Figure 42 shows the average Indirect Tensile Strength of the wet group (ITSw) and the dry group (ITSd) of samples, in kPa. The values of both the ITSw and the ITSd increase as the percentage of RA increases.



















## 5.4 Key Findings

This section presents the results of recovered bitumens alongside the asphalt mixtures made using 0% RA with 100% virgin aggregate (Control) mixes, 25% RA with 75% virgin aggregates and 50% RA with 50% virgin aggregates. The bitumen testing included rheological and chemical evaluation. The asphalt mixture testing included compositional analysis, volumetric properties, ITSM, WTT and water sensitivity testing. Given the results presented in this section, the following findings are drawn:

- There were negligible differences between the physical properties of the bitumen recovered from the control asphalt mixture (containing 100% PMB 'B') and the same bitumen obtained after STA using MRTFOT. Such results indicate that the bitumen recovery process had minimal impact on the polymer crosslinked network.
- 2. The SARA analysis indicated that the process of asphalt mixture manufacturing and/or the bitumen recovery process had more effects on increasing the colloidal index (CI) than the conditions of the STA using MRTFOT.
- 3. Increasing the RA content to 50% can reduce the resistance of bitumens to resist thermal and traffic-induced stresses. On the other hand, the addition of 25% RA showed comparable performance to the control materials (100% PMB) in terms of low temperature properties.









- 4. The MSCR analysis of bitumen recovered from mixtures showed that up to 50% of RA can be added to asphalt mixtures made with highly modified PMB without compromising the elastic recovery properties of the recovered bitumens.
- 5. The bitumen content found from asphalt mixtures made using 25% RA and 50% RA was lower than the designed bitumen content. Whilst this might suggest that the assumed active bitumen availability of 90% may be overestimated, the test results did not show any adverse impact on compliance with the volumetric, mechanical properties and compactability requirements of these mixtures.
- 6. The ITSM values were higher for asphalt mixtures containing higher addition of RA materials.
- 7. The asphalt mixtures produced with 25% and 50% RA showed comparable mechanical properties to the mixtures containing 0% RA, when tested for rutting resistance and water sensitivity in the laboratory.









# 6.Stage 4: Recyclability Assessments

# 6.1 Introduction

This section focuses on the end of life and recyclability assessment of aged RA subjected to multiple recycling. The asphalt mixtures produced in Stage 3 from 50% RA were further processed (crushed and lab-aged at 85°C for 120 hours) to produce laboratory aged RA (labelled RA1). This section presents the performance and mechanical results of asphalt mixtures produced using 50% laboratory aged RA and one PMB bitumen (PMB 'B') plus virgin aggregate. Figure 44 presents the methodology of Stage 4. The rheological properties of the recovered bitumens from the laboratory aged RA and the asphalt mixture containing 50% of laboratory aged RA are also indicated. This section also provides a recommended framework and guidance for the design factors that need to be considered when assessing RA incorporating PMB.



Figure 44. Stage 4 methodology









# 6.2 Properties of the Recovered Bitumens

### 6.2.1 Penetration and Softening Point

The penetration and softening point results for the bitumens recovered from RA1 and 50% RA1 mixtures are shown in Table 8 (Stage 4 column) – denoted as RA1 and 50% RA1. Table 8 also includes these results for recovered bitumen from asphalt mixture made using 50% RA in Stage 3 and before additional ageing to provide comparisons on the effect of the laboratory ageing process. The recovered bitumens from RA1 had a lower penetration and softening point in comparison with the recovered bitumens from mixtures containing 50% RA and 50% RA1 in Stage 3 and Stage 4, respectively. The decrease in the penetration values for the RA1 bitumen can be attributed to the ageing effect while the decrease of softening point for the RA1 might be attributed to partial breakdown of the crosslinked polymer network. The penetration and softening point for the recovered bitumen from 50% RA1 in Stage 4 were very close to the penetration and softening point values in Stage 3.

	Stage 3	Stage 4 Recovered bitumens			
Test	Recovered bitumen				
	50% RA 'M42'	RA1	50% RA1		
Penetration (dmm)	44	33	44		
Softening Point (°C)	72.6	66.8	71		

#### Table 8. Stages 3 to 4 Penetration and Softening Point Test Results

## 6.2.2 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)

Figure 45 shows the master curves and black diagrams of the recovered bitumens from (Stage 4), i.e. bitumens recovered the RA1 and asphalt mixtures containing 50% of RA1. The results of the bitumen recovered from an asphalt mixture containing 50% RA (Stage 3) are included for comparisons. The RA1 bitumen has increased complex modulus over the frequency domain compared to other bitumens. The  $G^*$  master curves for the bitumens recovered from 50% RA (Stage 3) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4) were very similar.

The results of  $G^*$  values agree with the penetration relationship between different recovered bitumens (Stage 3 and Stage 4) shown in Table 8. The black diagrams for the 50% RA1 recovered bitumen had phase angle values < 70 degrees indicating a good polymer crosslinked network.











Figure 45. Master Curve at 25 °C reference temperature and a black diagram for the recovered bitumens (Stage 3 and Stage 4)

Figure 46 shows the results for the G-R parameters computed at 0 °C for the recovered bitumens (Stage 4) alongside the recovered bitumen from 50% RA (Stage 3). The G-R value for the bitumen recovered from RA1 was the highest among other bitumens indicating the least thermal and cracking resistance. The bitumens recovered from 50% RA1 (Stage 4) had comparable low temperature performance to the bitumen recovered from 50% RA (Stage 3).











### 6.2.3 Multiple Stress Creep and Recovery (MSCR)

Figure 47 presents the average percentage recovery at 3.2 kPa stress, versus the average nonrecoverable creep compliance at 3.2 kPa stress. All the recovered bitumens (from Stage 4 and the 50% RA from Stage 3) fell above the line indicating an "acceptable" elastomeric polymer. The results for the 50% RA1 (Stage 4) had the highest recovery and the lowest Jn value indicating excellent rutting performance. These results highlighted the desirable properties imparted by the PMB already available in the RA1 mixtures in addition to the added virgin PMB.



Figure 47. The elastic response of the recovered bitumens from Stage 3 and 4







## 6.3 Asphalt Mixture Testing

This section presents the mechanical testing for asphalt mixtures produced using 50% of RA1 (labaged RA mixture) with virgin PMB and virgin aggregate materials. The results of the original control asphalt mixture (containing 0% RA) was also included to provide comparisons on the effect of multiple recycling.

#### 6.3.1 Volumetric Properties of the Mixtures

The findings shown in Figure 48 represents the average values of at least 8 samples for each mixture with the range bars representing the maximum and minimum values. The 0% RA had air void contents of 4.6% while the 50% RA1 had air void contents of 4.8%. The results of air voids complied with the target air voids requirements (2% to 6%), although there is a variation between the minimum and maximum values.



Figure 48. Volumetric Properties of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4.2) mixtures.

## 6.3.2 Indirect Tensile Stiffness Modulus (ITSM)

The ITSM test results for the asphalt mixtures are shown in Figure 49. The ITSM test results were all in the range of 1,000 to 2,000 MPa with the ITSM increased from 1010 MPa to 1580 MPa with the addition of 50% RA1.











Figure 49. ITSM results of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4).

## 6.3.3 Wheel Tracking Tests (WTT)

Figure 50 shows the results of Wheel Tracking Tests (WTT) in accordance with EN 12697-22:2020 using the small device to 10,000 cycles. Each result presented for WTT is the mean value of 2 comparable samples tested. Figure 50 shows the rut depth at 10,000 cycles and the wheel track slope (WTS). The value of the measured rut depth for the 0% RA (Control) was 2.55 mm while the rut depth value for the 50% RA1 was 2.11 mm The wheel track slope (WTS) in air measurements were in the range of 0.049 mm/1000 cycles - 0.052 mm/1000 cycles which comply with the requirements defined in PD 6691:2015+A1:2016. The results of WTT indicated that both mixtures have excellent rutting resistance.











Figure 50. WTT results for 0%RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4)

### 6.3.4 Resistance to Moisture Damage

Resistance to moisture damage of the asphalt mixtures was assessed by conducting water sensitivity testing in accordance with EN 12697-12:2018 – Method A. Figure 51 shows the average Indirect Tensile Strength of the wet group (ITSw) and the dry group (ITSd) of samples, in kPa. The values of both the ITSw and the ITSd increased with the addition of 50% RA1. Figure 52 shows the Indirect Tensile Strength Ratio (ITSR) of the asphalt mixture containing 50% RA1 had a higher ITSR ratio than the control mixture indicating a good resistance to moisture damage.











#### Figure 51. Indirect Tensile Strength (ITS) of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4)



Figure 52. Indirect Tensile Strength Ratio (ITSR) of 0% RA (Control) and 50% RA1 (Stage 4)







## 6.4 Guidance for Assessment Framework

Given the analysis and results presented in this work, Figure 53 provides proposed guidance for the assessment of bitumen recovered from asphalt mixtures made using RA (incorporating reclaimed PMB), virgin aggregate and virgin PMB. Other key design factors and considerations when recycling asphalts into thin surfacings are provided by Road Note 43 [28], and the guidance illustrated in Figure 53 can be used in conjunction with the protocol shown in Figure 2.2 (Flow chart for design of thin surfacing system with RA) of Road Note 43. For completeness, an extract from the Road Note 43 design process for incorporating RA in thin surfacings is reproduced in Appendix B.



Figure 53. Guidance for recovered bitumen assessment of asphalt mixtures containing reclaimed PMB









## 6.5 Key Findings

The impact of multiple recycling for asphalt mixtures containing PMB was evaluated in this section. The assessments included asphalt mixture testing in addition to characterisation of the recovered bitumens from the asphalt mixtures. Given the results presented in this section, the following findings are drawn:

- The effect of multiple recycling is generally associated with the hardening of the bitumens, reducing their ability to resist thermal and traffic-induced cracking. The bitumen recovered from the asphalt mixture containing 50% multiple recycled materials (RA1) had comparable low temperature performance to the bitumen recovered from an asphalt mixture containing 50% 'M42' RA.
- 2. The desirable rheological properties of the PMB were largely maintained after 2 cycles of recycling for asphalt mixtures containing a highly modified PMB. The bitumen recovered from the multiple recycled asphalt mixture still showed an acceptable elastomeric polymer response in accordance with AASHTO TP 70-13.
- The addition of 50% RA1 had increased the ITSM values of the asphalt mixtures containing 0% RA1 materials by about 1.5 times.
- 4. The asphalt mixtures produced using 50% RA1 showed mechanical properties at least comparable to, or better than, those of the control mixtures when tested for rutting resistance and water sensitivity in the laboratory.









# **7.**Conclusions and Recommendations

The work outlined in this report was a collaborative project between Highways England (HE), Mineral Products Association (MPA) and Eurobitume UK. The overall objective of this project was to improve the assessment of Reclaimed Asphalt (RA) materials and end-of-life assessment for mixtures containing RA, specifically RA containing Polymer Modified Bitumen (PMB) and into mixtures containing PMB. The methodology of this work comprises four main stages involving an extensive laboratory investigation into PMBs and RAs in addition to their asphalt mixtures.

The objectives of this research have been delivered through four work stages:

- Objective 1: Identify the properties of the PMB in RA; taking into consideration the age, polymer content, RA composition, the rheological and mechanical characteristics of RA.
- Objective 2: Develop a method for recovery of PMBs from asphalt samples and a protocol for blending RA with added new PMBs.
- Objective 3: Assess the physical and chemical properties of recovered bitumens blended with PMBs, taking into consideration the RA content, type/grade of a new bitumen and long-term ageing potential.
- Objective 4: Evaluate the impact of using a high content of RA into asphalt mixtures, taking into consideration the effect of ageing and moisture-induced damage.
- Objective 5: Assess the effect of multiple recycling on the mechanical properties of asphalt mixtures containing RA including the effect on the rheological properties of the recovered bitumens.

The main findings and conclusions are presented below. Given the results and analysis presented in this work:

- The methodology developed for this project introduced effective and efficient scientific protocols to distinguish between the rheological and chemical properties of different RA containing PMBs. The PMB recovery process developed during this project (extracting the bitumens from asphalt mixtures) was shown to have minimal impact on the crosslinked polymer network of the PMB. The Modified Rolling Thin Film Oven Test (MRTFOT) in accordance with MCHW Clause 955 provided a feasible protocol for blending bitumen recovered from RA with virgin bitumens, whilst at the same time providing a means to accelerate ageing in the laboratory.
- 2. The results of bitumen characterisation highlighted the importance of using more fundamental and performance related testing to characterise the PMBs. The DMA and MSCR analysis have provided effective tools to distinguish between the level of polymer modification of different PMBs. The addition of up to 50% of recovered RA bitumen to a highly modified PMB can still result in having blended bitumen with "acceptable" elastic recovery properties, in accordance with AASHTO TP 70-13.









- 3. The G-R parameter derived from the DMA testing at low temperature (0°C) and SARA analysis provided consistent results about the combined effect of ageing and incorporating RAs on the cracking resistance of bitumens. The G-R parameter and the SARA analysis have shown that the combined effect of ageing and incorporating RAs can make materials more susceptible to thermal and induced cracking. The addition of 25% RA had, however, comparable performance to the control materials (100% virgin PMB) in terms of low temperature properties.
- 4. Assuming up to 90% availability of the bitumen in the RA was found to be appropriate to meet the required volumetric, mechanical properties and compactibility of asphalt mixtures incorporating up to 50% RA.
- The addition of 50% RA materials can increase the stiffness of asphalt mixtures by a factor of 1.5 to 2 depending on the properties of RA materials.
- 6. The asphalt mixtures produced using 50% RA showed comparable or enhanced mechanical properties to those of the mixtures containing 0% RA, when tested for rutting resistance and water sensitivity.
- 7. The desirable rheological properties of the PMB were largely maintained after multiple (second round) recycling for asphalt mixtures containing a highly modified PMB. The re-recycled asphalt mixtures produced (using 50% lab-aged RA) showed mechanical properties at least comparable to those of the control mixtures containing 0% RA, when tested for rutting resistance and water sensitivity.

The following recommendations are proposed to obtain a better understanding of RA materials containing PMBs, particularly when used on large scale production and installation, and to validate the laboratory test results:

- The laboratory-based findings from this work show the probable feasibility of using high levels of RA containing PMBs (up to 50% RA), and into mixtures containing PMBs. It is strongly recommended to extend this work to full- scale asphalt plant and road trials.
- The performance-related characteristics for asphalt mixtures in this study were limited to rutting and water sensitivity. Further work incorporating long-term durability assessments, including evaluating the low temperature cracking characteristics, is recommended.
- Detailed analyses of the whole-life cost benefit from using a highly modified PMB is also recommended to promote longevity and assess the sustainability of the recycled asphalt mixtures.









# Acknowledgements

The work detailed in this report was undertaken by AECOM's Pavements and Materials team on behalf of the Collaborative Research group comprised of Highways England, Mineral Products Association (MPA) and Eurobitume UK. The Collaborative Research group and authors are grateful to MPA and Eurobitume UK members for advising on current best practice and their experience.









# References

- [1] Construction 2025 Industrial Strategy: government and industry in partnership, 2013. URN BIS/13/955.
- [2] S. Kim, G.A. Sholar, T. Byron, J. Kim, Performance of polymer-modified asphalt mixture with reclaimed asphalt pavement, Transp. Res. Rec. 2126 (2009) 109–114.
- [3] G.D. Airey, Rheological evaluation of ethylene vinyl acetate polymer modified bitumens, Constr. Build. Mater. 16 (2002) 473–487.
- [4] B. Huang, G. Li, D. Vukosavljevic, X. Shu, B.K. Egan, Laboratory Investigation of Mixing Hot-Mix Asphalt with Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement, (2005) 37–45.
- [5] A. Subhy, G.M. Pires, A. Jim, D. Lo Presti, G. Airey, Binder and Mixture Fatigue Performance of Plant-Produced Road Surface Course Asphalt Mixtures with High Contents of Reclaimed Asphalt, (2019).
- [6] T.W. Kennedy, W.O. Tam, M. Solaimanian, others, Effect of reclaimed asphalt pavement on binder properties using the superpave system, 1998.
- [7] J. Shen, S. Amirkhanian, J. Aune Miller, Effects of Rejuvenating Agents on Superpave Mixtures Containing Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement, J. Mater. Civ. Eng. 19 (2007) 376–384. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)0899-1561(2007)19:5(376).
- [8] X. Shu, B. Huang, D. Vukosavljevic, Laboratory evaluation of fatigue characteristics of recycled asphalt mixture, Constr. Build. Mater. 1330 (2008) 1323–1330. doi:10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2007.04.019.
- [9] S. Sunil, K.M. Mallesh, T. Chandrasekaraiah, Experimental investigations on the performance of bituminous mixes with reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) materials (case study Tumkur to Chitradurga-NH4), Int. J. Res. Eng. Technol. (2014) 297–303.
- [10] K. Mollenhauer, A. Ipavec, L. Gaspar, P. Marsac, K. Mirski, F. Batista, M. Antunes, C. McNally, R. Karlsson, Synthesis of national and international documents on existing knowledge regarding the recycling of reclaimed road materials in asphalt, DIRECT-MAT Deliv. D6; EC No. 218656 (2011).
- [11] I.L. Al-Qadi, Q. Aurangzeb, S.H. Carpenter, W.J. Pine, J. Trepanier, Impact of High RAP Content on Structural and Performance Properties of Asphalt Mixtures, (2012) 108p.
- [12] J.R.M. Oliveira, H.M.R.D. Silva, C.M.G. Jesus, L.P.F. Abreu, S.R.M. Fernandes, Pushing the asphalt recycling technology to the limit, Int. J. Pavement Res. Technol. 6 (2013) 109–116. doi:10.6135/ijprt.org.tw/2013.6(2).109.
- [13] A.J. Carrión, D. Lo Presti, G. Airey, Binder design of high RAP content hot and warm asphalt mixture wearing courses, Road Mater. Pavement Des. (2015) 37–41.









AECOM

60

doi:10.1080/14680629.2015.1029707.

- [14] A.E. Martin, F. Kaseer, E. Ara, A Method to Quantify Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement Binder Availability (Effective RAP Binder) in Recycled Asphalt Mixes, 2673 (2019) 205–216. doi:10.1177/0361198118821366.
- [15] D. Lo Presti, K. Vasconcelos, M. Orešković, G.M. Pires, S. Bressi, On the degree of binder activity of reclaimed asphalt and degree of blending with recycling agents, Road Mater. Pavement Des. 21 (2020) 2071–2090.
- [16] Q. Al-Qadi, I. L., S. H. Carpenter, G. Roberts, H. Ozer, and J.T. Aurangzeb, M. Elseifi, Determination of Usable Residual Asphalt Binder in RAP, Publ. FHWA-ICT-09-031. Illinois Cent. Transp. Rantoul, IL, 2009. Https//Rosap.Ntl.Bts.Gov/View/Dot/ 16708/Dot\_16708\_DS1.Pdf. (2009).
- [17] M. Stroup-Gardiner, Synthesis of Highway Practice 495: Use of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement and Recycled Asphalt Shingles in Asphalt Mixtures, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, D.C., 2016, 2016.
- [18] Y. Xu, Z. Chou, Y. Li, J. Ji, S. Xu, Effect of blending degree between virgin and aged binder on pavement performance of recycled asphalt mixture with high RAP content, Adv. Mater. Sci. Eng. 2019 (2019).
- [19] Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB), Volume 7: Pavement Design and Maintenance, HD 31/94.
- [20] A. Subhy, D. Lo Presti, G. Airey, Rubberised bitumen manufacturing assisted by rheological measurements, Road Mater. Pavement Des. 17 (2016). doi:10.1080/14680629.2015.1079549.
- [21] G.M. Rowe, Interrelationships in rheology for asphalt binder specifications, in: Proc. Fifty-Ninth Annu. Conf. Can. Tech. Asph. Assoc. Winnipeg, Manitoba, 2014.
- [22] Z. Feng, H. Bian, X. Li, J. Yu, FTIR analysis of UV aging on bitumen and its fractions, Mater. Struct. 49 (2016) 1381–1389.
- [23] J. Mirwald, S. Werkovits, I. Camargo, D. Maschauer, B. Hofko, H. Grothe, Investigating bitumen long-term-ageing in the laboratory by spectroscopic analysis of the SARA fractions, Constr. Build. Mater. 258 (2020) 119577.
- [24] M. Evans, R. Marchildon, S.A.M. Hesp, Effects of physical hardening on stress relaxation in asphalt cements: Implications for pavement performance, Transp. Res. Rec. 2207 (2011) 34– 42.
- [25] G.D. Airey, Rheological characteristics of polymer modified and aged bitumens, University of Nottingham Nottingham, UK, 1997.
- [26] A. Subhy, G.M. Pires, D. Lo Presti, G. Airey, The effects of laboratory ageing on rheological and fracture characteristics of different rubberised bitumens, Constr. Build. Mater. 180 (2018)











188–198.

- [27] I. Widyatmoko, B. Zhao, R.C. Elliot, W.G. Lloyd, Curing characteristics and the performance and durability of epoxy asphalts, in: Proc. 10th Conf. Asph. Pavements, 2006: pp. 12–17.
- [28] I. Carswell, J.C. Nicholls, I. Widyatmoko, J. Harris, R. Taylor, Best practice guide for recycling into surface course, Road Note 43, IHS, 2010.









# Appendix A: Bitumen Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt containing PMB










#### 0389-SOP Binder Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt containing <u>PMB by Rotary Evaporator - Operating Procedure</u>

Binder recovery of bituminous materials using dichloromethane followed by rotary evaporator carried out in accordance with BS EN 12697-1 and BS EN 12697-3, modified according to this Operating Procedure. This method is based on a Dichloromethane extraction followed by centrifugation to remove any suspended solids and finally rotary evaporation to remove the solvents.

#### Apparatus

- 1. Calibrated balance
- 2. Bottle roller
- 3. Centrifuge
- 4. Rotary evaporator
- 5. Metal rolling barrel with rubber bung
- 6. Various glassware
- 7. Stopwatch
- 8. Thermometer
- 9. 0207 FORM

#### Chemicals

- 1. Dichloromethane (DCM)
- 2. Paraffin Oil
- 3. Silica Gel (not passing a 0.063mm sieve)
- 4. Petroleum Jelly
- 5. White Spirits for cleaning

#### Safety

Ensure the fume cupboard is used when pouring/using DCM. For use and disposing of chemical reagents, all relevant safety operations must be followed.

MSDS (Material Safety Data Sheet) for each substance is supplied by manufacturers COSHH sheets are created or amended and are accessible to all Laboratory staff members.

#### Sample Storage and Sample Preparation

This analysis is undertaken on an 'as received' portion of the sample. The 'as received' samples should be stored in sealed containers at least until the analysis is completed and results checked/approved. Samples should be stored at room temperature

#### Sample Extraction

If the sample requires breaking down (i.e. site cores) the sample may be heated gently to a maximum of 120 °C for about an hour. Add the sample reference (label). Cool the sample down and break down using a pallet knife (smaller the better).

- 1. Bottle Roller
  - a) Clean the sample barrel with the bottle brush provided and place on balance and zero reading.

Note - For the smaller samples (less than 1000g) use the small scale with serial number 1005. If the sample is bigger use the other scale referenced as 1583.

Doc Name:	0389-SOP				Page <b>1</b> of <b>4</b>
Created:	20/07/2020 By: HEB/AS		File Location: \\nm-man-001\nm_shared\Lab		
Version:	v.0			Info\controlled documents	
Approved:	20/07/2020 By: NAL				
Printed on 18/02/2021 21:21:53			21:21:53	***Uncontrolled	when printed***



#### 0389-SOP Binder Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt containing PMB by Rotary Evaporator - Operating Procedure

b) Weigh out an appropriate amount of sample, so that it will contain between 120g and 150g of recoverable binder. However, if the percentage binder is not known use at least 800g of the sample and record the mass on to 0207 – FORM.

<u>Note</u>: If the sample weigh less than 1000g use the small barrel (black), if the sample weigh more than 1000g use the bigger barrel (blue).

c) Carry the barrel to the fume cupboard and add DCM and sufficient silica gel\* to absorb any water and firmly insert the rubber bung. (It has been found by AECOM operatives that to yield sufficient test sample, 800g of asphalt to 400ml of DCM is required).

\*Note: Silica gel is not always required as most of our samples are pre-heated up to 120°C

- d) Shake the barrel well away from the face, leave to stand for an initial 2-3 minutes, release the bung and repeat until all residual pressure is released.
- e) Place the barrel on the bottle roller and turn on for 60± 5 minutes and verify that the binder is well dissolved.
- f) Allow the bitumen solution to stand for a minimum of 10 minutes.
- g) Aggregate remaining in the bottle after the solution is poured out for filtration should be shaken with a further quantity of solvent. This process is repeated until no discolouration of the solvent is visible and the washings are visibly free from material in suspension. This usually takes between 3 to 4 cycles.
- h) Slowly decant the liquid phase into a suitable container/flask (multiple containers may be needed depending on the size of the sample)
- Note: Binder must not exceed 24 hours in a solvent solution.
  - 2. Centrifugation
    - a) Turn on the centrifuge and set the flow so the handle points out at 90°.
    - b) Place a collection vessel under the outflow tube of the centrifuge.
    - c) Slowly pour the extracts into the top sieve and check flow, increase if needed by turning handle to the left.
    - d) Ensure the collection vessel does not overflow, replace if necessary. Outflow should not exceed more than 150ml/min and must be monitored by the test operator.
    - e) Transfer the extract into a suitable glass container.
  - 3. Rotary Evaporation

Note: Temperatures and pressures can be found in table 1.

- a) Turn on the rotary evaporator and set the rotation to  $75 \pm 15$  r/min and the temperature to T1  $\pm 5^{\circ}$ C ensuring this is checked against the calibrated thermometer.
- b) Turn on the pump and cold water tap in the sink to ensure that there is cold water flowing through the condensation column.
- c) Start the rotation and heater.
- d) Turn the black tap on the pump (beside the inlet) to reduce the pressure in the apparatus to P1 ± 5kPa
- e) Transfer the extract from the container to a conical flask in the fume cupboard and securely attach bung and place conical flask on a tripod.

Doc Name:	0389-SOP				Page <b>2</b> of <b>4</b>
Created:	20/07/2020 By: HEB/AS			File Location: \\nm-man-001\nm_shared\Lab	
Version:	v.0			Info\controlled documents	
Approved:	20/07/2020 By: NAL				
Printed on 18/02/2021 21:21:53				***Uncontrolled when printed***	



#### 0389-SOP Binder Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt containing PMB by Rotary Evaporator - Operating Procedure

f) Remove tripod and lower the evaporating flask into the oil bath.

Note: Do not lower sample into the oil bath if temperature is above 85°C (set evaporator to 88/89°C)

- g) Open the induction stopcock clockwise to allow the bitumen solution to be drawn from the conical flask into the evaporating flask.
- h) Use the stopcock to adjust the flow of the bitumen to a constant flow, such that a constant flow of droplets entering the evaporating flask.

<u>Note</u>: Do not allow the volume of bitumen solution in the evaporating flask to exceed 400ml or the pressure to be lower than 80kPa.

- i) When all the bitumen solution has been transferred into the evaporating flask, raise the temperature of the oil bath to T2 ± 5°C (set to 155°C to reach 150°C ensuring this is checked against the calibrated thermometer).
- j) Isolate the vacuum pump by turning the black tap on the side of the pump, allow the pressure to gradually increase to atmospheric pressure or to pressure P2 (2kPa ± 0.5), over a period of 3 min ± 30 s.
- k) For soft bitumen's, it is advised not to exceed 120°C for T2 regardless of the solvent used.
- If the bitumen appears to be bubbling after 10 minutes, raise the temperature to T3 ± 5°C (175°C ensuring this is checked against the calibrated thermometer) and continue to evaporate until the bubbling ceases.
- m) For soft bitumen's, it is advised not to exceed 120°C for T3 regardless of the solvent used.
- n) Raise the flask from the oil bath and wipe of excess oil from the surface of the flask (caution, the flask will be hot).
- o) Stop the rotation and vacuum pump and release the pressure from the auxiliary tap.
- p) Remove the flask and clean inside of neck with a clean tissue; gently move the liquid in a circular motion before pouring the contents into a penetration tin.
- q) Cover and allow the sample to cool to room temperature.

		Phase 1		Phase 2		Extra
Solvent	Boiling point (°C)	Temperature T <sub>1</sub> (°C)	Pressure P1 kPa	Temperature T <sub>2</sub> (°C)	Pressure P <sub>2</sub> kPa	Temperature T <sub>3</sub> (°C)
Dichloromethane	40.0	85	85	150	2.0	175

Table 1:

Note: Complete process from start to finish must be completed within 20 hours.

It is advisable to keep the vacuum pump running for about 30 minutes after completion of recovery to ensure the removal of any dichloromethane (or other suitable solvent) vapour from the oil.

#### **Cleaning Equipment**

Manually clean neck of round bottomed flask within the fume cabinet with a hot knife, and then DCM or white spirits using a clean cloth.

Doc Name:	0389-SOP				Page <b>3</b> of <b>4</b>
Created:	20/07/2020 By: HEB/AS			File Location: \\nm-man-001\nm_shared\Lab	
Version:	v.0			Info\controlled documents	
Approved:	20/07/2020 By: NAL				
Printed on 18/02/2021 21:21:53			21:21:53	***Uncontrolled	when printed***



#### 0389-SOP Binder Recovery from Reclaimed Asphalt containing PMB by Rotary Evaporator - Operating Procedure

To clean the Evaporator machine, place the used but cleaned round bottomed flask back as before, turn on the pump and reduce the pressure. Draw the solvent from the beaker into the flask by opening the stopcock - this will clean the in-flow tube.

Then turn off the pump and vent the pressure by turning the gas port.

Clean the sample barrel by adding 200-300ml of DCM. Roll for 5-10 minutes.

Clean the round bottomed flask again within the fume cabinet with DCM/White Spirits.

The Centrifuge can be disassembled, parts cleaned in the fume cabinet with DCM/White Spirits and reassembled.

#### **Environmental Considerations**

The equipment used is not affected by changes in temperature or humidity, therefore environmental control is only necessary for operator comfort and to ensure that volumetric changes to glassware and aqueous solutions are kept to a minimum. A target temperature range is  $20 \pm 5^{\circ}$  C.

#### Waste Disposal

Excess samples are stored on site for a suitable period to allow for re-analysis if necessary. Samples for disposal and solid waste are collected in a skip and removed by a specialist carrier.

Excess and waste solvents are separated into chlorinated and non-chlorinated solvents. They are collected in suitably labelled containers in the laboratory. These containers are emptied into the appropriate waste safe located in the compound at the side the building. A specialist company collects the waste on request.

Doc Name:	0389-SOP				Page <b>4</b> of <b>4</b>
Created:	20/07/2020 By: HEB/AS			File Location: \\nm-man-001\nm_shared\Lab	
Version:	v.0			Info\controlled documents	
Approved:	20/07/2020 By: NAL				
Printed on 18/02/2021 21:21:53				***Uncontrolled	when printed***

## Appendix B: Road Note 43 Flow Chart for Incorporating RA

Source: I. Carswell, J.C. Nicholls, I. Widyatmoko, J. Harris, R. Taylor, Best practice guide for recycling into surface course, Road Note 43, IHS, 2010.











Figure 2.2 Design Factors for Incorporating RA (Carswell et al., 2010 - TRL Road Note 43)

# **Appendix C: Laboratory Results**

Files related to the test results of this study can be requested from Dr

Ayad Subhy or Dr Iswandaru Widyatmoko by emails at:

ayad.subhy@aecom.com or daru.widyatmoko@aecom.com

### The files include the following results:

- 1. The DSR raw data (Frequency sweep and MSCR results)
- 2. Penetration and Softening Point results
- 3. FTIR results
- 4. SARA results
- 5. Compositional Analysis results
- 6. ITSM results
- 7. Water Sensitivity results
- 8. WTT results
- 9. Volumetric Properties of Asphalt Mixtures (Bulk Density, Max Density and Air Voids) results







